

Economic Impact Analysis

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Discharge General Permit

Industrial Stormwater General Permit

May 2014 Publication no. 14-10-029

Publication and Contact Information

This report is available on the Department of Ecology's website at <u>https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/SummaryPages/1410029.html</u>

For more information contact:

Water Quality Program P.O. Box 47600 Olympia, WA 98504-7600

Phone: 360-407-6400

Washington State Department of Ecology - <u>www.ecy.wa.gov</u>

•	Headquarters, Olympia	360-407-6000
•	Northwest Regional Office, Bellevue	425-649-7000
•	Southwest Regional Office, Olympia	360-407-6300
•	Central Regional Office, Yakima	509-575-2490
•	Eastern Regional Office, Spokane	509-329-3400

If you need this document in a format for the visually impaired, call the Water Quality Program at 360-407-6400. Persons with hearing loss can call 711 for Washington Relay Service. Persons with a speech disability can call 877-833-6341.

Economic Impact Analysis

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Discharge General Permit

Industrial Stormwater General Permit

Prepared by

Shon Kraley, Ph.D.

Water Quality Program Washington State Department of Ecology Olympia, Washington This page is purposely left blank

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
Costs to comply with the New Permit	
CHANGES TO THE PERMIT	
CHAPTER 1: COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE INDUSTRIAL STOR	MWATER GENERAL
PERMIT	
Permit overview	3
STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP)	
SAMPLING AND TESTING	
Additional testing requirements	
VISUAL INSPECTIONS.	
CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	6
REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING	6
Reporting	6
Records retention	6
CHAPTER 2: OVERVIEW OF ANALYSIS	8
Definition of small and large businesses	8
Compliance costs included in the EIA	
Compliance costs excluded from the EIA	9
ANALYSIS OF FACILITIES INTENDED TO BE COVERED UNDER THE GENERAL PERMIT	
DATA USED IN ANALYSIS	10
CHAPTER 3: ESTIMATED COSTS FOR COMPLYING WITH THE PERMIT	
ESTIMATED COSTS FOR SAMPLING AND MONITORING	
ESTIMATED COSTS FOR LAB ANALYSIS	14
ESTIMATED COST FOR VISUAL INSPECTIONS	15
ESTIMATED COST FOR RECORD RETENTION	
TOTAL COMPLIANCE COSTS	
CONCLUSION OF ESTIMATED COSTS	16
CHAPTER 4: MITIGATION OF DISPROPORTIONATE IMPACTS	
IMPACT OF MITIGATION ON EFFECTIVENESS OF GENERAL PERMIT	19
MITIGATION MEASURES IN THE NEW GENERAL PERMIT	20
Reduced Sampling	
Streamlining	
Reduced Complexity of Level 3 Corrective Actions	
Allowance of alternative lab analysis methods	21

Executive Summary

The Industrial Stormwater General Permit is a statewide permit that provides coverage for discharges of stormwater from industrial facilities. The permit specifically regulates discharges of stormwater to surface water bodies.

WAC 173-226-120 requires an economic analysis of any proposed water-quality general permit to serve the following purposes. The analysis must provide:

- A brief description of the compliance requirements of the general permit.
- The estimated costs for complying with the permit, based upon existing data for facilities intended to be covered under the general permit.
- A comparison, to the greatest extent possible, of the cost of compliance for small businesses with the cost of compliance for the largest ten percent of the facilities intended to be covered under the general permit.
- A summary of how the permit provides mitigation to reduce the effect on small businesses (if a disproportionate impact is expected), without compromising the mandated intent of the permit.

A small business is defined as any business entity, including a sole proprietorship, corporation, partnership, or other legal entity, that is owned and operated independently from all other businesses, and that has 50 or fewer employees.

Costs to comply with the new permit

Depending on the industry sector of the facility, Ecology determined annualized compliance costs might be \$500 - \$1,300 for small businesses and \$1,000 - \$2,500 for large businesses.

Ecology used cost-to-sales ratio as the measure of proportionate impact. It is an approximate estimate of the percentage rise in costs caused by the permit. This is likely to be how the permit holder looks at compliance costs.

To calculate the ratio, Ecology divided annualized compliance costs by midrange annual sales. The cost-to-sales ratios fall as sales rise, so larger businesses—which employ more people, but have disproportionately higher sales—incur a lower cost per \$100 of sales. Ecology concluded, based on this result, that *the general permit has a disproportionate impact on small businesses*.

In all the typical cases analyzed, costs to comply are no higher than 0.11 percent of sales, which is only 11 cents per \$100 of sales. The numbers presented in this analysis show the typical large business is 7 to 30 times larger than the typical small business. At the same time, while a large business will possibly require more sampling than a small one, it does not need 10 times as much. Therefore, it is difficult to avoid disproportionate costs for smaller businesses, as small businesses will always be disproportionately impacted, relative to large businesses.

Ecology can offer very little mitigation without violating requirements of the state or federal water pollution control laws. However, the new permit does reduce some costs; these pertain mostly to all facilities, not only small businesses.

Changes to the permit

The new permit:

- Allows "substantially identical" discharge points to be excluded from sampling.
- Allows the suspension of quarterly benchmark sampling, based on consistent attainment of benchmarks (8 consecutive quarters).
- Streamlines several aspects of the permit, diminishing the burden on permittees.
- Allows the use of alternative lab analysis methods.
- Deletes the requirement for a PE, Geo, HG, or CPSWQ to design/stamp SWPPP, when a Level 3 corrective action is required.
- Reduces the content and complexity of Level 3 engineering reports. Rather than being in compliance with WAC 173-230, engineering reports now only need:
 - Brief summary of the treatment alternatives considered and why the proposed option was selected;
 - The basic design data and sizing calculations of the treatment units;
 - A description of the treatment process and operation, including a flow diagram;
 - The amount and kind of chemicals used in the treatment process, if any. Note: Use of stormwater treatment chemicals requires submittal of Request for Chemical Treatment Form;
 - Results to be expected from the treatment process including the predicted stormwater discharge characteristics;
 - A statement, expressing sound engineering justification through the use of pilot plant data, results from similar installations, and/or scientific evidence that the proposed treatment is reasonably expected to meet the permit benchmarks; and
 - Certification by a licensed professional engineer.

Chapter 1: Compliance Requirements for the Industrial Stormwater General Permit

Permit overview

The Industrial Stormwater General Permit regulates stormwater discharges from industrial facilities to surface water bodies.

Ecology requires industrial facilities that conduct activities under specific Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes to apply for a permit if they discharge stormwater from their industrial areas to storm drains or directly to surface waters.

Ecology does not require facilities to get a permit if they retain all the stormwater on site (e.g., infiltrate into the ground, or discharge to sanitary sewer). If the facility has no potential to expose stormwater to pollutants, that facility may apply for a Conditional No Exposure Certificate so they are exempt from the general permit.

This statewide permit currently provides coverage for approximately 1,200 industrial facilities that discharge stormwater to waters of the state.

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)

All permit holders and applicants for coverage under this permit are required to develop a SWPPP for the permitted facility. The SWPPP must contain:

- A site map.
- A detailed assessment of the facility.
- A detailed description of the best management practices (BMPs) necessary to:
 - Provide all known, available and reasonable methods of prevention, control and treatment (AKART).
 - Comply with state water quality standards and applicable federal technologybased treatment requirements under 40 CFR 125.3.
- A sampling plan.

The SWPPP must also have proper selection and use of BMPs from approved stormwater management manuals (SWMM).

Sampling and testing

The general permit requires all facilities to sample stormwater discharges from designated locations at least once per quarter (4 times a year) as outlined in the SWPPP. Permittees must sample each distinct point of *discharge* off-site except those determined to be "substantially identical" to a discharge point being sampled. *Substantially Identical Outfall* means an outfall that shares the following characteristics with another outfall: 1) the same general industrial activities conducted in the drainage area of the *discharge* point, 2) the same *Best Management Practices* conducted in the drainage area of the outfall, 3) the same type of exposed materials

located in the drainage area of the *discharge* point that are likely to be significant contributors of *pollutants* to *stormwater discharges*, and 4) the same type of impervious surfaces in the drainage area that could affect the percolation of *stormwater runoff* into the ground (e.g., asphalt, crushed rock, grass, etc.).

Each sample must be visually monitored for oil sheen and tested using the following 4 parameters:

- 1. Turbidity
- 2. pH
- 3. Zinc, Total
- 4. Copper, Total

Facilities must ensure the analytical methods they use to meet the sampling requirements conform to the latest versions of the:

- *Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants* contained in 40 CFR Part 136 or
- Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA).

However, if an alternate method from 40 CFR Part 136 is sufficient to produce measurable results from the sample, the Permittee may use that method for analysis.

For each stormwater sample taken, facilities must record the following in the site log:

- Sample date, time, and location
- Method of sampling and method of sample preservation
- Name of person who performed the sampling

Facilities must also keep laboratory reports in the site log. All laboratory reports must include the following information:

- Date of analysis
- Parameter name
- CAS number
- Analytical method(s)
- Name of person who performed the analysis
- Method detection limit (MDL)

Additional testing requirements

A variety of industrial groups are required to test for other pollutants that are likely to be present in their discharge. The costs for a representative selection of industrial groups are analyzed in Chapter 3. Table 1 lists the additional required tests for the selected industry.

- Laboratory practical quantitation level (PQL) achieved by the laboratory
- Reporting units
- Quality assurance/quality control data
- Sample result

Industrial Group	Types of Pollutant
Timber Product Industry	· Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)*
and Paper Allied Products	 Total Suspended Solids (TSS)*
Air Transportation	· Ammonia*
	· BOD5*
	· COD
	· Nitrate/Nitrate, as Nitrogen
	· Petroleum Hydrocarbons (Diesel Fraction)
Chemical and Allied	· BOD5*
Products, Food and Kidred	 Nitrate/Nitrate, as Nitrogen*
Products	· Phosphorus, Total
	· Phosphorous, Total
Primary Metals, Metals	• Lead, Total (applies to 10xx, 5015, 5093, in MSGP)
Mining, Automobile	• Petroleum Hydrocarbons (Diesel Fraction)
Salvage and Scrap	
Recycling, Metals	
Fabricating	
Hazardous Waste	· COD*
Treatment Storage, and	· Ammonia, Total*
Disposal Facilities and	· TSS
Dangerous Waste Recyclers	· Arsenic, Total*
	· Cadmium, Total*
	· Cyanide, Total*
	· Lead, Total *
	· Magnesium, Total*
	• Mercury, Total*
	· Selenium, Total*
	· Silver, Total*
	· Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH)
	equired to be analyzed in EPAs Multi-Sector General Permit
	harges associated with Industrial Activities and therefore they
are not analyzed. If the pollut	ant is not required by all sectors in the MSGP then, to be

Table 1: Industry groups required to conduct additional testing

conservative, it is analyzed here.

Visual inspections

Facilities must now conduct visual inspections of the site each month and document these inspections in the SWPPP. Each inspection shall consist of:

- Observations made at sampling locations and areas where stormwater is discharged.
- Observations for the presence of floating materials, visible sheen, discoloration, etc., in the stormwater discharge.
- Observation for the presence of illicit discharges.

- Verification that the descriptions of potential pollutant source required under this permit are accurate.
- Verification that the site-map in the SWPPP reflects current conditions.
- Assessment of all BMPs that have been implemented.

Corrective actions

Facilities that exceed benchmarks are required to follow the three-level corrective action process outlined in the permit. The level of corrective action depends on the number of times the benchmarks were exceeded during a calendar year. Please refer to Special Conditions-8 of the permit for details.

Reporting and recordkeeping

The general permit sets reporting and recordkeeping requirements for all facilities.

Reporting

Facilities must use Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) forms to report the sampling data they collect each reporting period. The reporting periods and subsequent due dates for receipt of DMRs by Ecology are as follows:

Reporting Dates and DMR Due Dates					
Reporting Period	Months	DMR Due Date			
1	January - March	May 15			
2	April – June	August 15			
3	July – September	November 15			
4	October - December	February 15			

 Table 2: Reporting Dates and DMR Due Dates

Records retention

Facilities must retain the following records on site for a minimum of 5 years:

- A copy of the permit.
- A copy of the permit coverage letter.
- Records of all sampling information.
- Inspection reports.
- Any other documentation of compliance with permit requirements.
- All equipment calibration records.
- All BMP maintenance records.
- All original recordings for continuous sampling instrumentation.

- Copies of all laboratory reports.Copies of all reports required by this permit.
- Records of all data used to complete the application for the permit.
- Any records that can substantiate compliance with the permit.

Chapter 2: Overview of Analysis

This Economic Impact Analysis (EIA) estimates the costs of complying with the general permit. It also compares the costs of complying with the permit for small businesses, to the costs of compliance for large businesses, to determine whether the permit disproportionately impacts small businesses.

Definition of small and large businesses

For the purpose of this study, a small business is an independent entity with 50 or fewer employees organized for the purpose of making a profit. Enterprises owned by larger corporations are excluded, as are not-for-profit and government enterprises. There are both small and large businesses that must comply with this permit.

The following SIC (Standard Industry Codes) Code Groups are required to obtain permit coverage. This activity does not have to be the primary activity for a facility; it only has be part of a facility's activities.

	Impacted Industries SIC Codes								
10xx	12xx	13xx	14xx	20xx	21xx				
22xx	23xx	24xx	25xx	26xx	27xx				
28xx	29xx	30xx	31xx	32xx	33xx				
34xx	35xx	36xx	37xx	38xx	39xx				
40xx	41xx	42xx	43xx	44xx	45xx				
4952	4953	5015	5093	5171	5191				

Table 3:

Compliance costs included in the EIA

According to WAC 173-226-120, the EIA must estimate the costs of the following:

- Minimum treatment technology
- Monitoring
- Reporting
- Recordkeeping
- Plan submittal
- Equipment
- Supplies
- Labor
- Administrative costs

The following table is a summary of the permit requirements, and the last column indicates whether Ecology is required to consider the costs associated with each section for the economic analysis.

Requirement	Condition Number	Basis of Requirement	Required to be in EIA
Submittal of application for coverage	S2.A	Federal	No
Development of SWPPP	S3	Federal	No
General sampling requirements	S4	Federal (once/year) State (quarterly)	Yes, 3 extra samples
Specific sampling parameters			
Core parameters	S5.A	State	Yes
Industry-specific parameters	S5.B	Federal and State ¹	Yes
Industries with effluent limits	S5.C	Federal	No
Sampling discharges to impaired waters			
Discharges to 303(d)-listed waters	S6	State ²	No
Discharges to waters with TMDLs	S6	State ³	No
Inspections	S7	Federal (quarterly) State (monthly)	Yes, 8 extra inspections
Corrective Actions	S8	State ⁴	No
Reporting and Recordkeeping			
Reporting DMRs	S9.A	Federal	No
Records Retention	S9.B	Federal (3 years) State (all 5 years)	Yes, 2 extra years
Non-Compliance	S9.D	Federal	No

Table 4: Compliance costs included in the EIA

Compliance costs excluded from the EIA

The cost of complying with permit conditions required by the following laws and rules are not included in the EIA's analysis of compliance costs:

- 1. State Groundwater Quality Standards (WAC 173-200)
- 2. State Surface Water Quality Standards (WAC 173-201)
- 3. State Sediment Management Standards (WAC 173-204)
- 4. Wastewater Discharge Permit Fees (WAC 173-224)

¹ Some of the specific sampling requirements are in the Federal Multi-Sector General Permit (MSGP) and therefore they will not be analyzed. However, any sampling requirements not in the MSGP will be analyzed.

² MSGP largely defers to the appropriate state authority. Sampling requirements in Ecology's permit are primarily a state requirement. However, since the benchmarks are based on the acute water quality criterion in WAC Chapter 173-201A, the economic analysis is not allowed to consider these sampling costs.

³ MSGP largely defers to the appropriate state authority. Sampling requirements in Ecology's permit are primarily a state requirement. However, since the benchmarks are based on the acute water quality criterion in WAC Chapter 173-201A, the economic analysis is not allowed to consider these sampling costs.

⁴ MSGP does not require eventual compliance with all benchmarks and therefore the corrective action and adaptive management set in this permit are primarily a state requirement. However, these benchmarks and the adaptive management conditions are necessary to comply with WAC 173-201(Water Quality Standards) and are therefore exempt from the economic analysis.

5. Federal law and regulations, in particular the Clean Water Act and federal NPDES regulations.

The justification for excluding compliance costs related to these laws and rules is that permit holders cannot be exempt from these laws through the permit process and, therefore, any cost impacts of these laws and regulations cannot be mitigated. Permit holders must comply with existing regulation independent of permit requirements.

Facilities covered under the existing permit are already expected to be in compliance with the majority of the new general permit's requirements. They have already incurred some or all of the costs of complying with the permit. However, even though a certain compliance cost has been incurred in the past, it is still a cost of compliance.

Analysis of facilities intended to be covered under the general permit

The permit involves six different levels of monitoring for different industry sectors. One of these sectors, Hazardous Material Recyclers and Treatment, Storage, and Disposal (TSD) facilities, has at least nine companies in the state and a very different list of tests for monitoring, so we analyzed them separately.⁵

The other sectors are large with a wide variety of company types, so we analyzed a representative sector in each of these five groups. The criteria for "representative" are below:

- 1. The analysis required the use of data sources built on the old Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) system together with sources, which use the new North American Industry Classification System (NAICS). Therefore, there must be a reasonable "mapping" between a given SIC sector and some corresponding NAICS sector(s).
- 2. The sector must have a mix of large and small businesses in Washington.
- 3. Within the previous two criteria, the sector should be as highly represented as possible among holders of the stormwater general permit (permit-holders are still classified by SIC).

Data used in analysis

The first step in the calculation is to estimate a range of sales for small and large firms within the given sector. For each sector chosen, sales and employment are taken from the Economic Census 2007 (which uses NAICS). These data are presented in Table 5 below.

These figures yielded an average level of sales per employee in the sector within Washington. Firm size data are then gathered from the County Businesses Patterns (CBP) 2011. The CBP data give numbers of firm in certain size ranges defined by the number of employees (for instance, how many firms in an industry have 1 to 4 employees, or 5 to 9 employees, etc.). These data are also presented in Table 5.

⁵ The economic data for this subset was drawn from a larger group.

By taking the mid-points of these employee ranges, we can derive a range of typical sizes for both small and the 10 percent of firms that are the largest in the industry. These data are also presented in Table 5.

Multiplying these firm sizes by the sales-per-employee numbers derived in the first step of the calculation described above, we get estimates of average sales by small and large firms in the sector. This data is presented in Table 6.

		Sales and Em	ployment Data			
			2007 Economic	County Business Patterns		
Descriptions	1987 SIC	2007 NAICS	Sales	Paid Employees	Average Employees	
					Small	Large
Refuse Systems	4953	5622, 562920	\$899,439,000	6,382	11.2	124.5
Sawmills and Planning Mills, General	2421	321113, 3219	\$3,650,720,000	14,907	10.2	139.5
Airports, Flying Fields & Airport Terminal Services	4581	4881	\$463,648,000	4,749	8.8	546.2
Prepared Fresh or Frozen Fish and Seafood	2092	31171	\$2,447,856,000	9,080	19.0	201.0
Scrap and Waste Materials, Metals	5093	423930	\$1,362,202,000	1,838	8.3	74.0
Hazardous Waste: Treatment Storage Disposal	4953	562211, 562112	\$874,586,000	4,048	10.2	74.0

Table 5: Sales and Employment Data

Table 6: Calculations

Calculations							
Descriptions	1987 SIC		Sales per Employee	Estimated Sales			
				Small	Large		
Refuse Systems	4953	5622, 562920	\$140,934	\$1,578,458	\$17,546,248		
Sawmills and Planning Mills, General	2421	321113, 3219	\$244,900	\$2,497,977	\$34,163,510		
Airports, Flying Fields & Airport Terminal Services	4581	4881	\$97,631	\$859,150	\$53,325,866		
Prepared Fresh or Frozen Fish and Seafood	2092	311712	\$269,588	\$5,122,166	\$54,187,121		
Scrap and Waste Materials, Metals	5093	423930	\$221,911	\$1,841,863	\$16,421,433		
Hazardous Waste: Treatment Storage Disposal	4953	562211, 562112	\$216,054	\$2,203,749	\$15,987,985		

Chapter 3: Estimated Costs for Complying with the Permit

Compliance costs are dependent on size of the facility. In this chapter, Ecology estimated ranges of costs for most requirements—a low cost and a high cost. The low cost estimate is for small facilities and the high cost estimate is for large facilities. Some requirements have the same cost for small and large businesses.

Most of the major assumptions used in making the compliance cost estimates are presented in this chapter. In general, we assume that large facilities will have twice as many samples and requirements will take twice as long to complete. In addition, assumptions used in making estimates of capital costs are included. Capital costs are annualized to compare them to services facilities provide annually.

It is necessary to annualize costs because some costs are annual (incurred every year), while other costs are capital costs (incurred once). For example, equipment for pH testing is a one-time capital cost, while monitoring is an annual cost that must be incurred every year.

Estimated costs for sampling and monitoring

All facilities must sample and monitor their discharges four times a year. Water Quality Program staff provided estimates for the employee time needed to carry out each of the major tasks required by the permit, divided into time of professional or supervisory personnel and time of other employees.

The Bureau of Labor Statistics⁶ identified labor costs of \$54.47 per hour for professional or supervisory personnel and \$25.80 per hour for employees. The calculations in Table 7 utilize these wages. For activities associated with monitoring (such as sample collection, record keeping, reporting), large firms are assumed to require twice as much labor as small firms, to reflect greater sampling activity.

Labor Costs for Samp	Small Busi	0	Large Businesses		
	Prof/Sup	Staff	Prof/Sup	Staff	
Sampling	$1 - 2 hr^{-1}$	6 – 12 hr	$2 - 4 hr^{-1}$	12 – 24 hr	
Training	0 - 2 hr	0 hr	0 – 4 hr	0 hr	
Recordkeeping	0 hr	2–4 hr	0 hr	4 – 8 hr	
Total Time	1 – 4 hr	8 – 16 hr	2 – 8 hr	16 – 32 hr	
Cost	\$54 - \$218	\$206 - \$413	\$109- \$436	\$413 - \$826	
Total Annual Labor Cost \$260 - \$631 \$522 - \$1,262					

Table 7: Labor Costs for Sampling and Monitoring Small and Large Businesses

⁶ http://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_wa.htm on May 5, 2014.

Estimated costs for lab analysis

The permit also requires facilities to send samples to a laboratory for analysis. In 2007, Ecology surveyed the three primary labs used by TSDs regarding their fees for various water quality parameters. These values have been updated to 2013 dollar values. This provided average fee levels for each of the monitoring parameters required by the stormwater general permit.

It is assumed that small firms will have one sample analyzed for each parameter, while large firms will have two samples analyzed for each parameter, to reflect the probability that sampling in more than one location would be necessary to capture the impact of a large installation. These lab fees only include the cost for analyzing parameters that are not required in the Federal Multi-Sector General Permit (MSGP).

Annual Laboratory Fees								
Sector	SIC	Testing Group	Small	Large				
Refuse Systems	4953	Basic	\$145	\$289				
Sawmills and Planning Mills, General	2421	Timber Products etc	\$174	\$347				
Airports, Flying Fields, and Airport Terminal	4581	Air Transportation	\$106	\$214				
Services								
Prepared Fresh or Frozen Fish and Seafood	2029	Chemicals and food	\$174	\$347				
Scrap and Waste Material	5093	Primary metals etc	\$481	\$961				
Hazardous Waste: Treatment, Storage & Disposal	4953	TSDs	\$423	\$845				

Table 8: Annual Laboratory Fees

In 1998 Ecology's Lab Accreditation Program surveyed environmental laboratories to get information on equipment requirements for pH testing. For a sample to be valid, pH testing needs to be done immediately after a sample is drawn. Ecology annualized values for long-term purchase based on a three percent real rate of interest and a five-year period of use.

A suitable pH meter and probe was assumed to cost \$225, with annual replacement parts costs of \$56.⁷ For the low cost estimate, facilities were assumed to already own the equipment, leaving only the annual purchase of replacement parts. Large firms were assumed to have twice the replacements parts costs, to reflect increased sampling. There are no lab fees for pH analysis because pH testing is done on site.

⁷ Indexed from 1995 values. Some facilities are not subject to pH limits and can therefore use litmus paper rather than having to use a meter. This is a considerable savings, so the inclusion of the meter cost in the analysis is a conservative assumption, tending to make the estimated compliance costs higher than the actual compliance costs.

Equipment Costs for pH Testing							
Small Large							
Initial Cost, Annualized	\$0 - \$49	\$0 - \$49					
Annual Replacement Cost	\$56 - \$56	\$113 - \$113					
Total Annual Cost	\$56 - \$105	\$113 - \$162					

Table 9: Equipment Costs for pH Testing

Estimated cost for visual inspections

Facilities are required to visually inspect their site each month and document the inspection in the SWPPP. The Federal MSGP requires only quarterly inspections, so Ecology estimated the cost for the additional eight inspections. Ecology assumes visual inspection will take a small business half an hour and large businesses a full hour. Ecology assumes a staff wage of \$25.80 per hour.

Table 10: Inspection Costs for Small and Large Businesses

		Small Bu	isinesses			Large Bı	isinesses	
Method	Hours Frequency Duration Annual			Hours	Frequency	Duration	Annual	
				Cost				Cost
Visual	0.5 hr	1/month	8	\$103	1 hr	1/month	8	\$206
Inspection			months ⁸				months ⁹	

Estimated cost for record retention

Facilities must retain records on site for a minimum of five years. The cost of complying with this provision is the cost of storing records. This cost is likely very low or close to zero.

Total compliance costs

This section presents the total costs of compliance for facilities under the Industrial Stormwater General Permit.

⁸ Ecology requires inspections for all 12 months, but the Federal MSGP requires inspections 4 times per year, so we have analyzed the additional 8 inspections.

⁹ Ecology requires inspections for all 12 months, but the Federal MSGP requires inspections 4 times per year, so we have analyzed the additional 8 inspections.

Sector	SIC	Small		Large	
		Low	High	Low	High
Refuse Systems	4953	\$565	\$ 984	\$1,130	\$1,918
Sawmills and Planning Mills, General	2421	\$594	\$1,013	\$1,188	\$1,976
Airports, Flying Fields, and Airport Terminal Services	4581	\$526	\$ 945	\$1,055	\$1,843
Prepared Fresh or Frozen Fish and Seafood	2092	\$594	\$1,013	\$1,188	\$1,976
Scrap and Waste Material	5093	\$901	\$1,320	\$1,802	\$2,590
Hazardous Waste: Treatment, Storage & Disposal	4953	\$843	\$1,262	\$1,686	\$2,474

 Table 11: Total Compliance Costs for Industrial Stormwater Permit Holders

Conclusion of estimated costs

The cost-to-sales ratios fall as sales rise. Ecology concluded, based on this result, that the general permit has a disproportionate impact on small businesses.

However, two points are important to keep in mind with regard to this conclusion.

- 1. At its highest, the permit represents 0.11% of average sales or 11 cents per \$100.
- 2. The underlying factor is that permit compliance costs do not scale up in line with the size of a business. The numbers presented in this analysis show the typical large business is 7 to 30 times larger than the typical small business. At the same time, while a large business will possibly require more sampling than a small one, it does not need 10 times as much. Therefore, it is difficult to avoid disproportionate costs for smaller businesses and still assure compliance with the water quality standards.

Table 12 shows the cost-to-sales ratio for typical state Industrial Stormwater Permit compliance costs as a percentage of midrange annual sales for both small and large businesses for each sector.

		Midrange Sales		Small		Large	
Sector	SIC	Small	Large	Low	High	Low	High
Refuse Systems	4953	\$1,578,458	\$17,546,248	0.036%	0.062%	0.006%	0.011%
Sawmills and Planning Mills, General	2421	\$2,497,977	\$34,163,510	0.024%	0.041%	0.003%	0.006%
Airports, Flying Fields, and Airport Terminal Services	4581	\$859,150	\$53,325,866	0.061%	0.110%	0.002%	0.003%
Prepared Fresh or Frozen Fish and Seafood	2092	\$5,122,166	\$54,187,121	0.012%	0.020%	0.002%	0.004%
Scrap and Waste Material	5093	\$1,841,863	\$16,421,433	0.049%	0.072%	0.011%	0.016%
Hazardous Waste: Treatment, Storage & Disposal	4953	\$2,203,749	\$15,987,985	0.038%	0.057%	0.011%	0.015%

Table 12: Cost-to-Sales Ratio for Small and Large Businesses Industrial Stormwater Permit Holders

Chapter 4: Mitigation of Disproportionate Impacts

If the compliance cost ratio is higher for small businesses than for large businesses, then small businesses are disproportionately impacted. Ecology concluded in Chapter 3 that this is the case for the reissued NPDES General Permit for Industrial Stormwater.

The general permit rule (WAC 173-226-120) requires that disproportionate economic impacts of general permits on small businesses be reduced, when it is both legal and feasible to do so.

Legality and feasibility are determined by the legal context of existing state and federal regulations, such as the State Water Pollution Control Act (Chapter 90.48 RCW) and the federal Clean Water Act. Cost impacts on small businesses are reduced by modifying the conditions of the permit.

Mitigation involves one or more of the following:

- Establishing differing compliance or reporting requirements or timetables for small businesses.
- Clarifying, consolidating, or simplifying the compliance and reporting requirements under the general permit for small businesses.
- Establishing performance rather than design standards.
- Exempting small businesses from parts of the general permit.

While the vast majority of changes to the current permit are clarifications, others are mandated by the EPA. Additional changes were included to mitigate the impacts of the permit. Ecology amended the general permit to mitigate its impacts on small businesses as follows.

The new permit:

- Allows "substantially identical" discharge points to be excluded from sampling.
- Allows the suspension of quarterly benchmark sampling, based on consistent attainment of benchmarks (8 consecutive quarters).
- Streamlines several aspects of the permit, diminishing the burden on permittees.
- Allows the use of alternative lab analysis methods.
- Deletes the requirement for a PE, Geo, HG, or CPSWQ to design/stamp SWPPP, when a Level 3 corrective action is required.
- Reduces the content and complexity of Level 3 engineering reports. Rather than being in compliance with WAC 173-230, engineering reports now only need:
 - Brief summary of the treatment alternatives considered and why the proposed option was selected;
 - The basic design data and sizing calculations of the treatment units;
 - A description of the treatment process and operation, including a flow diagram;
 - The amount and kind of chemicals used in the treatment process, if any. Note: Use of stormwater treatment chemicals requires submittal of Request for Chemical Treatment Form;
 - Results to be expected from the treatment process including the predicted stormwater discharge characteristics;

- A statement, expressing sound engineering justification through the use of pilot plant data, results from similar installations, and/or scientific evidence that the proposed treatment is reasonably expected to meet the permit benchmarks; and
- Certification by a licensed professional engineer.

Mitigation measures must comply with state and federal requirements.

The general permit rule requiring Economic Impact Analysis (WAC 173-226-120) states that mitigation only needs to be undertaken when it is legal and feasible in meeting the stated objectives of the federal Clean Water Act, and Chapter 90.48 RCW, the State Water Pollution Act. This provision is an important restriction. If a proposed mitigation measure violates federal law or regulations, or if it violates state statute or rules, then it cannot be undertaken.

The conditions of the general permit based on federal regulations are requirements of federal law. Significant mitigation of these conditions would be a violation of federal NPDES program regulations, which establish effluent standards. Because these conditions are a consequence of federal law, they cannot be mitigated, and the compliance costs associated with them cannot be reduced. The general permit must contain effluent limits that are at least as strict as federal effluent standards, to mitigate their impact on small businesses.

Conditions required to meet the AKART requirement of the state Water Pollution Control Act (Chapter 90.48 RCW) are also legal requirements that Ecology cannot allow permit holders to violate. Thus, compliance costs based on the AKART requirement also cannot be mitigated.

Ecology also places conditions in general permits to ensure discharges do not violate the state surface water quality, ground water quality, or sediment management standards (173-200, 173-201, 173-204, 173-224 WAC). These conditions are legal requirements that Ecology cannot allow permit holders to violate. Compliance costs associated with these permit conditions cannot be mitigated.

The above circumstances severely limit Ecology's ability to reduce cost impacts on small businesses. Only costs imposed by permit conditions that are stricter than those required by the above laws can be legally mitigated. Because, for the most part, the permit simply contains conditions needed to comply with these laws, usually only minor mitigation measures can legally be undertaken. The cost reductions that result are usually small.

Impact of mitigation on effectiveness of general permit

The general permit rule states mitigation only needs to be undertaken when it is legal and feasible in meeting the stated objectives of the Clean Water Act and Chapter 90.48 RCW, the State Water Pollution Control Act. Even if a proposed mitigation measure is legal, if it would limit the general permit's effectiveness in controlling water pollution too much, it should not be undertaken.

Ecology has reduced the cost of the permit where possible. Reducing costs does not remove the disproportionate impact. The size of the facilities' impermeable surface, nature of the industrial

activity, and installation and maintenance of best management practices determines the quantity and quality of the stormwater discharge. Given this, there is no reason to believe small businesses will have a small stormwater impact simply because they have fewer employees. Therefore, there is no basis that would allow Ecology to be more lenient on small businesses without an unreasonable risk of violating federal or state water quality laws and rules.

All facilities discharging pollutants to receiving water require a permit. If Ecology issues a general permit that allows facilities to harm the quality of the water receiving the discharge then Ecology would be in violation of state and federal law. Ecology hopes the benchmarks coupled with the adaptive management strategy in the general permit will allow dischargers to meet water quality standards without excessive costs. Nonetheless, the elements in the following section can potentially reduce the cost of the permit. Most of the mitigation presented is not only for small businesses, but applies to all facilities and therefore will benefit small businesses as well.

Mitigation measures in the new general permit

Reduced Sampling

The permit continues to allow "substantially identical" discharge points to be excluded from sampling, which is intended to reduce sampling costs. The permit also continues to allow the suspension of quarterly benchmark sampling, based on consistent attainment of benchmarks (8 consecutive quarters).

Streamlining

The permit has been modified in several ways to ease the burden on permittees through streamlining. For example, the permit now requires annual reports to begin the year following permit coverage. Also, DMRs are not required until the first full quarter following permit coverage.

Reduced Complexity of Level 3 Corrective Actions

When level 3 treatment is planned, it is no longer required that a PE, Geo, HG, CPSWQ design/stamp SWPPP. Ecology also reduced the content and complexity of Level 3 engineering reports. Engineering reports no longer need to be in full compliance Chapter 173-240 WAC: SUBMISSION OF PLANS AND REPORTS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF WASTEWATER FACILITIES. Engineering reports will only need to include the following:

- Brief summary of the treatment alternatives considered and why the proposed option was selected;
- The basic design data and sizing calculations of the treatment units;
- A description of the treatment process and operation, including a flow diagram;
- The amount and kind of chemicals used in the treatment process, if any. Note: Use of stormwater treatment chemicals requires submittal of Request for Chemical Treatment Form;
- Results to be expected from the treatment process including the predicted stormwater discharge characteristics;

• A statement, expressing sound engineering justification through the use of pilot plant data, results from similar installations, and/or scientific evidence that the proposed treatment is reasonably expected to meet the permit benchmarks; and Certification by a licensed professional engineer.

Allowance of alternative lab analysis methods

The permit allows for the use of alternative lab analysis methods. This allows permittees to use alternative methods if they so choose, for example, when it is less expensive.